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Introduction 

1. The Applicant contests the alleged failure of the Administration to address his 

complaint of harassment and discrimination. He seeks, inter alia, compensation in 

excess of two years’ net base salary, promotion to the P-5 level, and an order 

ensuring that “he is given appropriate work that is commensurate with his 

qualifications”. 

Procedural matters 

Case management 

2. The present application was filed with the Dispute Tribunal on 

14 August 2009, following an extension of time granted by the Tribunal on 

9 July 2009. The Respondent’s reply was filed on 5 October 2009, following a brief 

extension of time granted by the Tribunal. 

3. On 16 July 2009 the Tribunal rendered a ruling on the Applicant’s application 

to file additional submissions (Abubakr UNDT/2009/079), granting leave for the 

Applicant to file a response to the Respondent’s reply. 

4. The Tribunal thereafter issued eight orders in response to various motions and 

requests, including: Orders No. 3 (9 July 2009), dated 9 July 2009; No. 241 

(NY/2010), dated 14 September 2010; No. 106 (NY/2011), dated 4 April 2011; No. 

116 (NY/2011), dated 19 April 2011; No. 160 (NY/2011), dated 24 June 2011; No. 

178 (NY/2011), dated 15 July 2011; No. 205 (NY/2011), dated 19 August 2011; No. 

286 (NY/2011), dated 30 November 2011. The various case management orders were 

necessitated in part by the Applicant’s filing of voluminous and poorly structured 

submissions, which included over 100 annexes and hundreds of pages of documents. 

Many of these documents were not relevant to the legal issues in this case, and, as 

conceded by the Applicant in his submission dated 13 April 2011, the case was 
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“burdened with layers of papers[,] many of which are purely tangential”. This had a 

negative effect on how expeditiously the Tribunal could deal with this matter and 

diverted significant resources of the Tribunal. 

5. The Tribunal held a hearing on 29 November 2011, during which it heard 

testimony from the Applicant and a witness for the Respondent. The Applicant 

decided not to call an additional witness, the former President of the United Nations 

Staff Union, with Respondent’s Counsel submitting that the evidence of this witness 

was not relevant. Instead, the Applicant tendered the written statement of this 

witness, requesting that it be given due consideration by the Tribunal in so far as it is 

relevant. The Tribunal dealt with this statement accordingly, however, in view of the 

Tribunal’s findings herein, particularly with regard to the scope of the case, no 

significant reliance was placed on it. 

6. At the conclusion of the hearing, both parties were granted leave to file 

closing submissions, which were duly filed on 5 December 2011. 

Motion to redact the Applicant’s name 

7. On 5 December 2011, the same day he filed his closing submission, the 

Applicant filed a motion requesting that his name be removed from the judgment and 

from the previously-issued rulings of the Tribunal. The Applicant stated that his 

application contained personal medical information, that the complaints referred to in 

his application were of a sensitive nature, and that “[i]n the nature of things” he felt it 

was “necessary to seek anonymity in order to protect the totality of his interests 

within the Organization”. 

8. The Respondent objected to the motion, submitting that it was filed too late in 

the proceedings, and also that the Applicant failed to provide sufficient grounds in 

support of his request. According to the Respondent, based on the issues that fall 

within the scope of this case, it is not necessary to refer in any detail to the 
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Applicant’s personal or confidential evidence in deciding the issues of liability or 

relief. 

9. One of the purposes of vigorous case management is that issues are defined 

and settled and all preliminary matters are dealt with at the outset, including any 

motions the parties wish to make. Unless there are unusual or exceptional 

circumstances, particularly arising from the evidence presented at a hearing before 

the Tribunal, motions for confidentiality and redaction should be discouraged and 

will not ordinarily be allowed at this stage of the proceedings. The Tribunal has 

already issued a number of orders identifying the Applicant by name, and one 

judgment (Abubakr UNDT/2009/079) on a preliminary issue has been publicly 

available for more than two years. 

10. Even though motions for confidentiality must be decided on a case-by-case 

basis, the granting of same without sufficient reason has the potential to not only 

invite requests of this kind in every matter, but to negate a key element of the new 

system of administration of justice—its transparency. It is essentially a question of 

weighing the public interest against the private interest. This application was filed 

some time ago, and the present Judgment does not deal with the Applicant’s medical 

history, any sensitive information, or any matters of a highly confidential nature, nor 

did any such arise during the hearing. The Applicant has therefore failed to persuade 

the Tribunal that his case is of such a nature as to outweigh the guiding principle of 

transparency in judicial proceedings and published rulings before the Tribunal. 

11. Having considered the grounds furnished by the Applicant and the 

Respondent’s objections, the Tribunal finds that the Applicant has not established 

sound and valid reasons for redacting his name (see Yisma Order No. 63 (NY/2011), 

dated 1 March 2011). The motion for confidentiality is rejected. 
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Facts 

12. The pertinent facts below are based on the findings made by the Tribunal on 

the oral testimony given in court, the parties’ joint submission of 18 October 2010, 

and the case record. 

13. The Applicant joined the Organization on 12 November 2001 on a short-term 

appointment as a P-4 level staff member with the Information Technology Services 

Division (“ITSD”). In February 2002, the Applicant was selected for a P-4 level 

position as a Computer Systems Officer with ITSD. He was appointed to that position 

on 12 October 2002, on a fixed-term contract. Thereafter, the Applicant received 

several extensions, ranging from several months to two years in duration, and worked 

on several assignments within ITSD. 

14. The Applicant alleges that he had been promised, prior to his recruitment in 

November 2001, that he would “soon thereafter” be moved to a regular budget post, 

and that it had not been done. The Applicant alleged that he had met with his 

supervisors on several occasions thereafter to discuss his contractual situation, to no 

avail. 

15. By memorandum dated 8 February 2006, the Applicant wrote to the Under-

Secretary-General for Management requesting his assistance with receiving a regular 

budget post. 

16. In April 2006, the Applicant applied for a P-4 level post in ITSD as 

Information Systems Officer. He was subsequently selected for the position, but 

alleges that he detected reluctance in the confirmation of his selection. 

17. Having heard nothing some months later, on 22 September 2006, he filed a 

complaint with the Panel on Discrimination and other Grievances (“PDOG”), entitled 

“Harassment and Discrimination by ITSD”. The PDOG was a peer review 

mechanism for dealing with cases of alleged discrimination and other grievances. Its 
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cases were handled by staff members acting in a volunteer capacity, usually two staff 

members per case, who were, in effect, doing this work in their spare time without 

any additional resources. (The PDOG was abolished as of 1 July 2009, with the 

introduction of the new system of justice.) 

18. In October 2006, two PDOG members, Ms. W and Ms. S, were assigned to 

investigate the Applicant’s case. The Acting Coordinator of the PDOG gave oral 

evidence before the Tribunal that the work of PDOG at the time was managed by her 

but that the internal procedures of the PDOG were not well set out and many of them 

were based on developing practices. The Acting Coordinator explained that her 

functions included supervising the work of the PDOG, monitoring compliance with 

the deadlines, and managing the caseload. 

19. Following the filing of his complaint with the PDOG, on 13 November 2006, 

the Applicant was notified that he had been selected for the position he applied for in 

April 2006. He subsequently received a fixed-term contract and was placed on a 

regular budget post. The Applicant testified that he could not be certain that this was 

due to any intervention on the part of the PDOG. However, based on the evidence in 

this case, the Tribunal finds that the granting of this appointment against a regular 

budget post was at least in part due to the efforts of the PDOG. This is confirmed by a 

memorandum from Ms. W to the Acting Coordinator, dated 29 March 2007, in which 

Ms. W stated that the Applicant approached the PDOG seeking its assistance in 

“getting an established post and contract extension” and that Ms. W and Ms. S 

“informally resolved the matter concerning [the Applicant’s] contract and post” and 

that the Applicant had been “placed against an established post and given a contract 

extension which were satisfactory to him”. 

20. On 18 January 2007, the PDOG received a further communication from the 

Applicant, in which he confirmed that ITSD had placed him on a regular budget post 

but claimed that he was still being subject to discrimination and harassment. 
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21. Although the Applicant’s complaint was filed on 22 September 2006, it is 

common cause that, due to various factors, including personal and professional 

issues, the work of the two PDOG members assigned to the Applicant’s case was 

significantly delayed. As a result, on 6 June 2007, the Applicant requested an 

administrative review of “an ‘administrative decision’ that arose from the failure of 

management to address complaints lodged by [him] to various bodies to arrest the 

abiding harassment and prejudicial actions that currently threaten to compromise my 

career development”. It appears that, by “various bodies”, the Applicant was 

primarily referring to the PDOG and the rebuttal panels that were set up to review his 

rebuttals against unfavourable performance evaluations. 

22. On 4 September 2007, the Applicant sent an email to the Acting Coordinator, 

asking her to reassign his case to someone other than Ms. W. He explained in a 

follow-up email of 6 September 2007 that Ms. W had been assigned to his case for 

almost one year, but despite her numerous promises to complete it, it was not done. 

23. According to the Acting Coordinator, given the limited resources, and in view 

of her understanding at the time that the case was near completion, she decided to 

replace Ms. S (who, due to personal reasons, could no longer participate in the work 

of the PDOG in the fall of 2007), as a member of the panel and to complete the report 

together with Ms. W. The Acting Coordinator gave evidence that during that time 

she, in effect, acted as both the Coordinator of the PDOG as well as Ms. S’s 

replacement as one of the two panel members assigned to the Applicant’s case. She 

undertook to complete the report by October 2007. 

24. The Acting Coordinator testified that she received a copy of the draft PDOG 

report in or around September 2007, and had a meeting with Ms. W, who she thought 

was the primary drafter of the document. The Acting Coordinator said they may have 

connected with Ms. S by telephone as well, although she could not recall for certain. 

The Acting Coordinator said she formed the view that the report contained strong 

conclusions that were not supported by evidence and that it could not be submitted in 
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that form. According to the Acting Coordinator, Ms. W became defensive because 

she thought the Acting Coordinator was criticising her work. Ms. W informed her 

that a lot of the information was based on interviews conducted by her and Ms. S. 

The Acting Coordinator asked to see the interview notes and was informed some 

weeks later that the interview notes had been lost during Ms. W’s office move. The 

Acting Coordinator testified that, as a result, she lost trust in Ms. W, since the PDOG 

was dealing with confidential matters. However, she conceded that she did not inform 

the Office of Human Resources Management (“OHRM”), or security personnel, or 

the Applicant of any lost file. 

25. The Acting Coordinator also alluded in her testimony to her suspicion of bias 

on the part of Ms. S and Ms. W in favour of the Applicant. This allegation was never 

made previously by the Respondent either at administrative review level, the JAB 

level, or indeed in the papers before the Tribunal. It is only in the written statement of 

the Acting Coordinator, submitted to the Tribunal on 16 November 2011, that the 

alleged partiality of the two members of the PDOG was raised for the first time. 

Whilst it may be argued that the Respondent is barred from raising this matter so late 

in the day, an analysis of the evidence, based entirely on hearsay, given by the Acting 

Coordinator, illustrates that this allegation is in any event highly questionable and 

unsubstantiated by material direct evidence. 

26. The Acting Coordinator testified that she was informed by the PDOG 

Secretary, who in turn was informed by someone from the Staff Union that Ms. S and 

Ms. W had a previous working relationship with the Applicant through the Staff 

Union. The Acting Coordinator did not verify the dates of their alleged involvement 

in the Staff Union activities. The Acting Coordinator said she asked the PDOG 

Secretary to call Ms. W and ask about potential conflict of interest. Ms. W apparently 

denied the existence of any conflict of interest. However, because Ms. W was so 

defensive about the draft report, the Acting Coordinator felt “there was a personal 

level of involvement” and suspected the two panelists were biased in the Applicant’s 

favour. The Acting Coordinator made no contemporaneous record of these concerns, 
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did not report them to anyone and, in fact, retained the same panel members even 

after the Applicant requested their replacement. When asked under cross-examination 

why she did not replace Ms. W because of the suspected conflict of interest, 

the Acting Coordinator said she could not answer that question as “the sequence of 

events gets murky around this time”. She further explained that, since the PDOG had 

limited resources, and a lot of work on the case had been done, she wanted to finish 

the case with the people who worked on it already, “even though there [was] this 

problem”. 

27. The Acting Coordinator from the outset qualified her evidence with the 

disclaimer that events having transpired some time ago, her recollection may have 

faded. The Applicant’s evidence generally was given in a direct and clear manner, 

and the Tribunal found his testimony to be consistent and reliable. His unrefuted 

testimony in this regard is that he, Ms. W, and Ms. S were involved in Staff Union 

activities at different periods of time and that the Applicant joined the Staff Union in 

July 2007, approximately ten months after filing his complaint with the PDOG, when 

Ms. W was no longer serving in the Staff Union. The Tribunal wonders why the 

panel members, if at all they were biased in Applicant’s favour, would have 

inordinately delayed the Report for well over a year, causing the Applicant to request 

the removal of Ms. W. Furthermore, one of the recommendations of the panel was 

highly critical of the Applicant and stated that he be held fully accountable for failing 

to complete assignments given to him and failing to complete his annual performance 

appraisal as mandated by the rules. The Tribunal finds that there is no reason to 

suggest that there was any kind of improper influence or bias on the part of Ms. W or 

Ms. S. Respondent’s Counsel correctly, in the Tribunal’s view, chose not to pursue 

these allegations in his closing submission. 

28. The Applicant testified that he fully cooperated with the PDOG, but, as he 

saw no progress in its work, his level of frustration increased. Therefore, on 

10 September 2007, the Applicant submitted an appeal to the JAB against the 
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Administration’s decision not to address his complaints of harassment, 

discrimination, and abuse of power. 

29. On 13 September 2007, the Acting Coordinator sent an email to the 

Applicant, stating: 

We have reviewed the progress on your case with Ms. [W] yesterday. 
The case is near finalization and reassigning it to another panel 
member at this time will delay the conclusion considerably. We have 
established the deadline of 15 October [2007] for finishing couple 
more interviews and drafting the final report. To ensure that we finish 
by this deadline, and in light of the fact that the second panel member 
that was assigned your case is on a leave of absence due to a family 
emergency, I will work with Ms. [W] in drafting the final report. 

I hope this provides you with assurance that your case will be 
concluded very soon. 

30. The Applicant and the Acting Coordinator had a meeting on 17 October 2007. 

According to the Applicant, the meeting was arranged at his request as he wanted to 

see if there were any outstanding issues. He recalled that the meeting lasted only 

several minutes, that the Acting Coordinator apologized for the delay in finalising his 

case, and that he was not asked for any additional documents. The Acting 

Coordinator testified, according to her recollection, that the meeting lasted longer and 

that she did ask the Applicant for additional documents during that meeting. 

31. The day following this meeting, on 18 October 2007, the Applicant sent an 

email about the treatment of his complaint. He stated: 

The excessive delays by the [PDOG] to address my complaint, have 
substantially aggravated my problem which compelled me to pursue 
the matter at a higher level. The case is now before the Joint Appeals 
Board—JAB[—]and it’s beyond mediation, as both parties are barred 
by the rules to discuss the case before it’s adjudication by the JAB in a 
public hearing. 

I regret to inform you that I have absolutely no confidence in the 
current work of the panel which certainly not going to lead to any 
meaningful resolution. These delays have rendered the work of the 
panel mute and redundant to say the least. 
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As an elected representative to the Staff Union Council, I will formally 
bring the dismal performance issue of [PDOG] before the full council 
attention. 

32. The Acting Coordinator replied on the same day, 18 October 2007, inquiring 

whether the Applicant’s email was to be considered a withdrawal of his complaint 

and stating that “[u]nless a complainant informs us in writing that s/he is withdrawing 

the case, PDOG continues to work on any case that is open until a final report on the 

case is written and submitted to the appropriate authorities”. Notably, the email did 

not contain a request for additional documents. 

33. The Acting Coordinator sent a follow-up email on 31 October 2007, 

requesting that the Applicant respond by 1 November 2007. Specifically, the Acting 

Coordinator stated: 

The message below was sent to you on October 18. We have not heard 
from you since. Please respond by close of business tomorrow 
(1 November [2007]). Please note that work on your case has been 
paused until we hear from you. 

34. The Applicant did not reply to this email. The Respondent submits that no 

further action was taken by the Administration with regard to the Applicant’s 

complain of 22 September 2006 as the Applicant decided to pursue his grievances 

through the formal system. 

35. The Acting Coordinator testified that, following the meeting of 

17 October 2007, she was still awaiting further documents from the Applicant before 

she could finalise the Report. It is notable that there is no written record of a request 

for documents informing the Applicant that the report cannot be finalised in the 

absence thereof. It is also relevant that the Acting Coordinator’s testimony is that the 

documents required to finalise the Report pertained to allegations of corruption made 

by the Applicant, yet several contemporaneous communications indicate that the 

Acting Coordinator clearly stated that the PDOG was not mandated to deal with 

allegations of corruption and would not do so. The witness was not able to furnish 
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answers to the Tribunal’s satisfaction during cross-examination regarding this 

apparent contradiction.  

36. Although a draft report of the PDOG was prepared on or about 

15 October 2007, the Respondent contends that this draft report was provided to 

OHRM only on or around 12 March 2008, when the disclosure of the draft was 

requested during the JAB proceedings. The draft report contained comments and 

questions inserted by the Acting Coordinator, supporting her contention that the 

document was incomplete. When the draft report was submitted to the JAB, the 

Respondent stated that it was a draft document, that it was the position of the PDOG 

that “it could not issue its draft report due to lack of supporting evidence”, and that it 

was one of the questions before the JAB “whether it would have been appropriate for 

the PDOG to proceed in the circumstances” (see the memorandum of 7 August 2008 

from the Representative of the Secretary-General to the Secretary of the Joint 

Appeals Board). According to the Respondent, it was also made clear in the 

Respondent’s answer to the Applicant’s appeal before the JAB that “[t]he work of the 

PDOG ha[d] been suspended pending further input from the [Applicant]” and that the 

draft report had not been finalised. 

37. After the draft report of the PDOG was provided to the JAB, a copy of it was 

transmitted to the Applicant in the context of the JAB proceedings. The Applicant 

prepared a response to the draft report, dated 3 April 2008, although he was not 

requested to do so. 

38. On 30 March 2009, the JAB adopted its report (Report No. 2056), finding that 

the Applicant’s complaint was, in effect, fully considered by the PDOG, which had 

completed its review of the Applicant’s case. The JAB stated, apparently based on its 

belief that the work of the PDOG had been concluded, that “[w]hile it is unclear 

whether the Organization has acted on the findings of both bodies [i.e., the PDOG 

and the performance evaluation rebuttal panel], given its zero tolerance [policy on 

harassment and discrimination] the [JAB] presumes that it will do so in due course”. 
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Accordingly, the JAB found that the Applicant “had recourse for his complaint of 

harassment which is still ongoing”. Both the Applicant and the Respondent now 

agree that the JAB’s finding that the PDOG had finished its work was erroneous. 

39. By letter dated 13 May 2009, the Deputy Secretary-General informed the 

Applicant of the Secretary-General’s decision to agree with the findings and 

conclusions of the JAB and not to take any further action in this matter. The Deputy 

Secretary-General’s letter stated: 

The JAB noted that the Organization is under an obligation to look 
into any good faith complaint of harassment. The JAB stated that the 
PDOG is a UN body established to find facts in precisely the type of 
grievances put forward by you, and the PDOG panel in the case in 
question was duly established to carry out that mandate. Furthermore, 
the JAB stated that the PDOG report articulates the facts of the case 
and the cogent reasoning underpinning the PDOG panel’s conclusions. 
The JAB also stated that you benefited from the review of a Rebuttal 
Panel which concluded that your original appraisal rating and the 
evaluations and comments should not be maintained due to what it 
found to be egregious failure to properly administer your PAS. The 
JAB further stated that while it is unclear whether the Organization has 
acted on the findings of both bodies, you have had recourse for your 
complaint of harassment which is still ongoing. 

In light of the foregoing, the JAB unanimously concluded that the 
Respondent did not violate your terms of appointment in the context of 
this case and therefore unanimously decided to make no 
recommendation. 

The Secretary-General has examined your case in the light of the 
JAB’s report and all the circumstances of the case. The Secretary-
General agrees with the findings and conclusions of the JAB. In 
accordance with the JAB’s unanimous decision to make no 
recommendation in favour of the present appeal, the Secretary-General 
has decided not to take any further action in this matter. 

40. On 14 August 2009, the Applicant filed an application against the “[d]ecision 

of the Secretary-General dated 13 May 2009, received by [the] Applicant on 

13 May 2009, and the recommendation of the Joint Appeals Board—

Report No. 2056”. 
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Applicant’s submissions 

41. The Applicant’s primary contentions may be summarised as follows: 

a. The Applicant’s claims regarding various breaches of his contract are 

receivable, including with regard to promises allegedly made to him prior to 

his recruitment. These breaches took a long time to materialize and the 

Applicant had no choice but to wait for an appreciable passage of time to 

determine that the Administration had indeed failed to live up to its promises. 

The issues raised by him cannot be separated without “destroy[ing] the fabric 

of [his] case and improperly prejudic[ing] the totality of his cause of action”; 

b. The Organization failed to address the Applicant’s claims of 

harassment and discrimination. The Applicant’s complaint to the PDOG 

remained unresolved. Administrative instruction ST/AI/308/Rev.1 

(Establishment of Panels on Discrimination and other Grievances), which set 

out the terms of reference of the PDOG, required panel members to act with 

complete independence and impartiality and to act expeditiously in bringing 

cases to a conclusion; 

c. The Acting Coordinator of the PDOG failed to follow the prescribed 

procedure with regard to the finalisation of the PDOG report. The 

Respondent’s claim that the Applicant failed to provide some necessary 

documents to the PDOG is incorrect. The Applicant cooperated with the 

PDOG during its investigation and cannot be blamed for the non-finalisation 

of its report; 

d. As the matters stand now, the report of the PDOG has not been 

completed so that it has been impossible for it to be released officially. The 

Applicant has therefore been denied the opportunity of relying on the findings 

of the PDOG report to substantiate his claims of harassment and 

discrimination; 



  Case No. UNDT/NY/2009/088 

  Judgment No. UNDT/2011/219 

 

Page 15 of 27 

e. The JAB failed to properly address the Applicant’s allegations of 

harassment and discrimination. The JAB merely left the matter open in the 

vain belief that given the Organization’s policy of zero tolerance it 

“presumed” that the Organisation would take appropriate action “in due 

course” to see to it that the violations suffered by the Applicant would be 

remedied. As a result of the JAB’s report, the Secretary-General also failed to 

recommend and effectuate a meaningful measure to redress the wrongs done 

to the Applicant; 

f. The Applicant experienced significant harm to his professional and 

personal life, as well as emotional distress and psychological injury, 

documented by a specialist, as a result of the violation of his rights. The 

Applicant should be compensated for the injury he suffered to his career and 

well-being; 

g. The Applicant should be awarded compensation in excess of two 

years’ net base salary because the delay in the work of the PDOG and its 

failure to release the report were surrounded by improper circumstances. The 

Applicant also requests the Tribunal to take into account that he was unfairly 

given three poor performance evaluations between 2006 and 2009 and that he 

is not being given meaningful work or a promotion, so that “one can assume 

that for the foreseeable future, the Applicant’s career progression will be stuck 

in neutral”. 

Respondent’s submissions 

42. The Respondent’s primary contentions may be summarised as follows: 

a. This case is limited in scope only to the matter raised by the Applicant 

in his request for administrative review, his appeal to the JAB, and the present 

application to the Tribunal, namely whether the Applicant’s complaint of 
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alleged harassment and discrimination of 22 September 2006 was properly 

investigated. The Applicant’s claims regarding the circumstances of his hiring 

in 2001 are time-barred. Further, his claims regarding his contractual 

situation, his alleged ostracism at work, and lack of proper work assignments 

are not properly before the Tribunal; 

b. The Organization adequately addressed the Applicant’s complaint of 

22 September 2006. Although the Applicant’s complaint was entitled 

“Harassment and Discrimination by ITSD”, the substance of the complaint 

could not be said to amount to either. The complaint was about the Applicant 

not getting a regular budget post, which the Applicant alleges was promised to 

him prior to joining the Organization in 2001. The PDOG made efforts, in a 

genuine attempt to resolve the Applicant’s claim, to get him a regular budget 

post. These efforts were successful and the Applicant was appointed to that 

post. This amounted to a successful resolution of the case. The Applicant 

received a permanent contract in June 2010 and is currently serving at the P-4 

level; 

c. The PDOG did not issue a final report because the Applicant failed to 

cooperate fully with it and provide documentary evidence in support of his 

claims. Without the evidence in support of the Applicant’s claims, the PDOG 

could not issue the final report as there was insufficient evidence to support its 

conclusions. The Applicant’s email of 18 October 2007 was a clear indication 

that the Applicant considered the work of the PDOG to be of no use and did 

not wish to continue with the PDOG process. The Applicant’s email and his 

further actions amounted to a withdrawal of his complaint. With these factors 

in mind, the PDOG had to prioritize its work, given its limited resources, and 

determined that there were more pressing matters that needed urgent attention. 

The file was left open in the hope that the Applicant would change his mind 

and cooperate. By not closing the Applicant’s case, the PDOG acted 
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reasonably and was trying to ensure that the Applicant could not be 

prejudiced; 

d. The draft report was provided to OHRM on 12 March 2008 as part of 

the JAB proceedings, to demonstrate to the JAB the work that had been done 

on the Applicant’s case. The draft PDOG was never submitted to OHRM for 

action. When a copy of the draft reported was transmitted to the JAB in 

March 2008, the JAB was informed that this was only a draft and that the 

work of the PDOG had been suspended. It is therefore “difficult to see how 

the JAB could have reached” its conclusion that the PDOG had completed its 

work. The JAB’s misinterpretation is not the fault of the Respondent. Nor did 

the JAB’s observation confer an obligation on the Respondent to act because 

the Respondent had made it clear that no further work would be done in the 

absence of cooperation from the Applicant; 

e. Any compensation must be limited to the proven harm. The Applicant 

has remained employed at the P-4 level throughout and has been granted a 

permanent appointment. He has not suffered any loss of earnings as a result of 

the contested decision. 

Consideration 

Legal issues and scope of the case 

43. In their joint submission of 18 October 2010, both parties identified the legal 

issues in this case as follows (emphasis omitted): 

Agreed legal issues: 

1. Whether or not the Organization adequately addressed the 
Applicant’s claims of alleged harassment and discrimination. 

Additional legal issues according to the Respondent: 

2. Whether or not the PDOG panel had a duty to proceed with an 
investigation of the Applicant’s complaint given that the panel 
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had resolved the subject matter of that complaint by assisting 
the Applicant in securing a fixed-term contract on a regular 
budget post. 

3. Whether or not the PDOG panel had a duty to finalise the 
report in light of the Applicant’s failure to provide information 
requested of him. 

4. Whether or not the PDOG panel had a duty to finalise the 
report in light of the Applicant’s complaint against the panel on 
[18] October 2007 in which he stated that the work of the 
PDOG was “redundant” and that he had commenced a formal 
legal process. 

Additional legal issues according to the Applicant are: 

5. Can the Applicant be blamed for the non-finalization of the 
PDOG Report? 

… 

6. Did the Applicant cooperate fully with the PDOG panel? 

… 

7. Did the JAB and the Secretary-General renege on their duties 
to recommend and effectuate [any] meaningful measure to 
redress the wrongs done to the Applicant? 

… 

8. Whether or not the Applicant’s claim for breach of his contract 
is receivable. 

44. The parties agreed in their joint submission that this case concerned the issue 

of whether the Applicant’s complaint was properly addressed. The “additional” issues 

identified by the parties in the joint submission serve only to address various aspects 

of the PDOG’s handling of his complaint. The Tribunal finds that the joint 

submission of the parties is consistent with the record and correctly reflects the scope 

of the present case which is clearly articulated in the request for administrative 

review, the proceedings before the JAB, and in the application before the Tribunal. 

Once parties agree issues following case management, particularly in a joint 

submission, they must be seen to be bound and to stand by those submissions. 
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45. In his closing submission, despite the agreed submission on the scope of the 

case and the Tribunal’s Orders No. 241 (NY/2010) and No. 106 (NY/2011) regarding 

the same issue, the Applicant presented, in effect, that his entire employment record 

and all decisions he considers adverse to him from 2001 and to the date of the hearing 

were within the scope of the present case. Specifically, in his closing submission the 

Applicant raised, in addition to the PDOG’s handling of his complaint, the following:  

a. the alleged circumstances of his recruitment in 2001 and the promises 

made at the time;  

b. the alleged Administration’s failure “to meet significant elements of 

the promises made to induce him to join the UN” in 2001;  

c. his refusal in 2002 to recommend another staff member for promotion 

from the P-2 to P-3 level and the resultant reassignment to a different team in 

2003;  

d. the circumstances surrounding his participation in a procurement 

exercise in 2004; 

e. the delay in the granting of a regular budget post despite alleged 

promises he received during his pre-recruitment negotiations in 2001;  

f. his placement on “a series of short-term contracts from 

November 2001 to June 2010” as opposed to a regular budget post;  

g. the three consecutive poor performance evaluation ratings between 

2006 and 2009 and the successful subsequent rebuttals;  

h. the circumstances of the granting to the Applicant of a permanent 

contract in June 2010; 
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i. ITSD’s refusal to give him meaningful work at the present time (i.e., 

in 2011);  

j. the alleged failure by the Administration to provide the Applicant with 

a healthy work environment. 

46. The Applicant’s closing submission extended well beyond the scope of the 

case as previously agreed by the parties in their joint submission and as reflected in 

the Tribunal’s Orders No. 241 (NY/2010) and No. 106 (NY/2011). Closing 

submissions are intended to succinctly summarise the parties’ positions, not to 

introduce substantively new claims for consideration after the parties have presented 

written and oral evidence. 

47. Each of the matters listed in the Applicant’s closing submission is a separate 

administrative decision (either explicit or implied) that should have been contested 

properly and timeously, starting with a request for administrative review (under the 

former system) or management evaluation (under the current system) (see, e.g., the 

United Nations Appeals Tribunal’s (“UNAT”) rulings in Syed 2010-UNAT-061, 

Appellant 2011-UNAT-143, Kapsou 2011-UNAT-170, O’Neill 2011-UNAT-182). 

Staff members must follow the established internal mechanisms to properly assert 

their claims (Barned 2011-UNAT-169, Jennings 2011-UNAT-184). 

48. Although the Applicant may be dissatisfied with various matters that occurred 

during his career with the United Nations, the Tribunal is bound by the scope of the 

present case, which was correctly identified by the parties in their joint submission 

and which stems from the Applicant’s request for administrative review. Any other 

interpretation of the scope of issues properly before the Tribunal would render the 

legal requirements of administrative review and management evaluation and the 

requirement of time limits meaningless, as the Applicant would be permitted to attach 

any past or future decision to his request for review filed on 6 June 2007. 
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49. Therefore, the Tribunal finds that the main legal issue under review in this 

case is whether the Organization adequately addressed the Applicant’s complaint of 

alleged harassment and discrimination. The additional issues identified by each party 

in their joint submission of 18 October 2010 are relevant only to the extent they assist 

the Tribunal in determining this main legal issue. 

The failure of the PDOG to complete its work 

50. Administrative instruction ST/AI/308/Rev.1 (Establishment of Panels on 

Discrimination and other Grievances) of 25 November 1983, in force at the relevant 

time, set out the terms of reference of the PDOG and the procedure to be followed. 

The administrative instruction provided: 

5. The panels shall investigate grievances submitted by staff 
members arising from their employment with the Organization. Such 
grievances may include, but are not necessarily limited to, allegations 
of discriminatory treatment in the United Nations Secretariat on 
grounds such as those referred to in article 2 of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights. The panels shall seek to resolve the 
grievances by informal means or, where this proves impossible, by 
recommending appropriate action by the Secretary-General. 

6. In the discharge of their functions, panel members shall act 
with complete independence and impartiality. … 

… 

10. The panel shall endeavour to act expeditiously in bringing its 
cases to a conclusion. To this end, the panel shall set up, for each case, 
a schedule normally not exceeding eight weeks, in order to facilitate 
the timely completion of necessary investigations and to ensure 
earliest possible conclusion of the panel’s review. 

… 

17. Panel members shall have access, on a confidential basis, to all 
documents which, in their opinion, may be pertinent to the case and 
shall have authority to obtain information regarding the issues before 
the panel from the members of the Secretariat orally or in writing. … 

18. The Assistant Secretary-General for Personnel Services shall 
act upon the recommendations of the panel and shall inform it, by 
quarterly reports, of the action taken on those recommendations; the 
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panels shall have authority to follow up on their recommendations, if 
necessary directly with the Secretary-General. 

51. The PDOG was required to act expeditiously and provide its report within 

eight weeks or at least within a reasonable time thereafter (Edwards 

UNDT/2011/022, para. 51). In terms of sec. 18 of the administrative instruction, the 

Assistant Secretary-General, OHRM, was required to act upon the recommendations 

of the panel and inform it, by quarterly reports, of the action taken on those 

recommendations. 

52. Although the Respondent contends that the Applicant’s complaint of 

22 September 2006 was adequately addressed given the circumstances of the case, it 

is common cause that the report of the PDOG was never finalised. The parties differ 

as to the reasons for this failure—whereas the Applicant states that he cooperated 

fully with the PDOG and it was required to complete its work on the evidence 

available to it, the Respondent maintains that some relevant material was still pending 

from the Applicant and that the report could not be finished without it. The Tribunal 

has not been provided with a copy of any written request made to the Applicant by 

the PDOG for documentation without which the report could not allegedly be 

completed. Nor was such disclaimer made to OHRM or the JAB when the draft 

report was provided in or around March 2008. Furthermore, in her email dated 

13 September 2007, the Acting Coordinator stated to the Applicant that the PDOG 

was working on the report, that the case was “near finalization”, and that reassigning 

it to another panel member would “delay the conclusion considerably” and that the 

deadline of 15 October 2007 was set “for finishing couple more interviews and 

drafting the final report”. 

53. Although it is alleged by the Respondent that the interview file was lost, the 

Tribunal is perplexed that this loss was not reported, that no action was taken against 

the panel members responsible for it, and no effort was made to recover the evidence. 

Nor was there a qualification to OHRM or the JAB about the work of the PDOG 

being allegedly compromised by the suspected partiality of the panel members. 
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54. Having observed the witnesses and having considered their oral evidence, the 

Tribunal is not persuaded that the PDOG’s failure to finish its investigation and issue 

the report was in any way attributable to the Applicant in that the report could not be 

issued without further documentation from him. The failure of the PDOG to report to 

the appropriate authorities the alleged loss of the interview notes or the fact that the 

report may have been compromised leaves many unanswered questions. It is apparent 

that the work of the PDOG on this case was dysfunctional. 

55. Pursuant to ST/AI/308/Rev.1, the PDOG was clearly required to complete its 

work. If the evidence was insufficient, the panel could have said so and rendered its 

report accordingly. Further, the Acting Coordinator herself stated in her email of 

18 October 2007 that PDOG would complete the investigation and issue its report 

unless it received instructions to the contrary from the Applicant. The Acting 

Coordinator conceded in her evidence, in effect, that the Applicant never formally 

withdrew his case. The PDOG could have and should have issued a final report. 

56. The PDOG draft report concluded, inter alia, that the Applicant experienced 

discriminatory treatment, that a hostile work environment existed, that the Applicant 

had been deliberately ostracised and isolated, and that the hostile work environment 

made it “impossible for the parties to come to an amicable settlement”. It suggested, 

inter alia, that the Applicant be given whistleblower status, that the Under-Secretary-

General for Management investigate the Applicant’s allegations pertaining to 

procurement-related matters, and that the Under-Secretary-General for Management 

convene an independent mediation panel to review the Applicant’s situation to 

determine an amenable solution. 

57. The Tribunal is not in a position to second guess or endorse the draft findings 

and conclusions made by the panel members, who collected the evidence and 

interviewed the witnesses. The Acting Coordinator conceded, in effect, that she could 

not say whether the draft findings and conclusions were correct or incorrect. Due to 
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the incomplete nature of the draft report, the findings cannot be tested, and the 

recommendations could not be acted on. 

58. The Tribunal notes that the Applicant’s situation was further aggravated by 

the JAB’s erroneous finding that the PDOG finished its work and issued its final 

report, on the basis of which the Organization presumably would act, and thus that 

the Applicant had received proper recourse. This finding was relied on by the 

Respondent in deciding not to take any further action in his case (see Deputy 

Secretary-General’s letter of 13 May 2009). It is surprising that the Respondent 

accepted the findings of the JAB, considering that the Respondent was aware that the 

PDOG, in fact, never finished its work and that the JAB was wrong in finding 

otherwise. The Respondent’s agreement with the findings and conclusions of the JAB 

and his decision not to take any further action were completely contradictory with the 

Respondent’s actual knowledge of the case. Accepting the findings of the JAB 

allowed the Respondent not to take any further action on the Applicant’s case based 

on the JAB’s finding that recourse had been given, while refusing to act on the 

findings of the draft PDOG report on the basis that the work of the PDOG could not 

be completed. 

59. Furthermore, as the PDOG has been disbanded and no longer exists, the 

Applicant has been denied the possibility of having his claims considered by that 

body and its final recommendations, if any, acted upon. 

60. The Tribunal finds that the PDOG failed to act expeditiously in bringing the 

Applicant’s case to conclusion, finish its investigation, and issue its final report, as 

required by ST/AI/308/Rev.1. The Tribunal finds that the Organization failed to 

properly address the Applicant’s complaint of harassment and discrimination and was 

thus in breach of the Applicant’s contract. 



  Case No. UNDT/NY/2009/088 

  Judgment No. UNDT/2011/219 

 

Page 25 of 27 

Compensation 

61. The Tribunal is vested with the statutory power to determine, in the 

circumstances of each case, the remedy it deems appropriate to rectify the wrong 

suffered by the staff member whose rights have been breached (Fröhler 2011-UNAT-

141, Appellant 2011-UNAT-143, Kaddoura 2011-UNAT-151). 

62. In view of the circumstances of this case, including the passage of time, some 

five years since the Applicant’s complaint to the PDOG the Tribunal finds that, in 

view of all the factors in the present case, the appropriate form of relief is monetary 

compensation, and not a referral of the matter for a new inquiry. Indeed, in his 

closing submission, the Applicant did not request the Tribunal to order a new 

investigation of the harassment allegations. Instead, he requested the Tribunal to 

order that he be promoted and be paid compensation in excess of two years’ net base 

salary (see para. 44 of the Applicant’s closing submission, filed on 

5 December 2011). 

63. The Tribunal is mindful that the extent of compensation in this case is limited 

by the scope of the present application. The burden is on the Applicant to substantiate 

his claim for compensation or damages. In assessing the quantum of compensation 

the Tribunal may consider actual pecuniary (or economic) loss and non-pecuniary 

damage, including emotional distress suffered by the Applicant (see Antaki 2010-

UNAT-095). 

64. The Tribunal finds that the Applicant has failed to prove that any actual 

economic loss warranting compensation was caused to him by the PDOG’s failure to 

complete its investigation and fully address his complaint of harassment. 

65. With respect to compensation for emotional distress and negative effect on the 

Applicant’s health, he should be recompensed for the negative impact of the breach 

and the compensation should be proportionate to the damage suffered by him, taking 

into account the particular circumstances of the case. 
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66. The Tribunal notes that, as a result of the PDOG’s failure to carry out its 

mandate, the Applicant has been denied the benefit of a final report on his allegations. 

He has also lost the right to have any recommendation implemented in his favour, as 

provided for under sec. 18 of the ST/AI/308/Rev.1. The failure of the PDOG to 

follow its own rules and to complete the report, and the failure of the JAB and the 

Administration to properly conclude the matter, means that the Applicant’s complaint 

of harassment and discrimination was not addressed. The Applicant’s rights have 

been compromised further due to the passage of time and the fact that the PDOG has 

disbanded. 

67. The Tribunal is satisfied that the Applicant has demonstrated that he was 

distressed, and continues to be, by the Respondent’s failure to properly address his 

complaint and this has had some negative effect on his health, as supported by his 

unrebutted oral and documentary evidence, including the medical affidavit of 

11 January 2011, filed on 21 January 2011. 

68. With respect to compensation for emotional distress, such compensation has 

ranged, generally, in the vicinity of several months’ net base salary—the exact 

amount depending, of course, on the particular circumstances of each case and the 

harm suffered. In determining the appropriate amount of compensation in this case, 

the Tribunal is mindful of its ruling in Applicant UNDT/2010/148 (affirmed in 

Appellant 2011-UNAT-143), by which it awarded USD40,000 to a staff member for 

the failure of the Organization to timeously and adequately consider his complaint 

and for the emotional distress caused by that failure. 

69. In light of all the aforesaid factors, the Tribunal finds that the Applicant shall 

be paid USD40,000 as compensation for the harm caused to him. 
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Conclusion 

70. The Tribunal finds that the PDOG failed to act expeditiously in bringing the 

Applicant’s case to conclusion, finish its investigation, and issue its final report, as 

required by ST/AI/308/Rev.1. The Tribunal finds that the Organization failed to 

properly address the Applicant’s complaint of harassment and discrimination and was 

thus in breach of the Applicant’s contract. 

71. The Tribunal awards the Applicant USD40,000 as compensation for the 

Respondent’s failure to adequately address his complaint of harassment and 

discrimination and for the harm caused to him by that failure. This sum shall be paid 

within 60 days from the date the Judgment becomes executable, during which period 

interest at the US Prime Rate applicable as at that date shall apply. If the sum is not 

paid within the 60-day period, an additional five per cent shall be added to the US 

Prime Rate until the date of payment. 
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